

Quiver elliptic W-algebras

Taro Kimura¹ · Vasily Pestun²

Received: 21 September 2016 / Revised: 4 January 2018 / Accepted: 5 March 2018 / Published online: 20 March 2018 © Springer Science+Business Media B.V., part of Springer Nature 2018

Abstract We define elliptic generalization of W-algebras associated with arbitrary quiver using our construction (Kimura and Pestun in Quiver W-algebras, 2015. arXiv:1512.08533 [hep-th]) with six-dimensional gauge theory.

Keywords Supersymmetric gauge theories \cdot Conformal field theories \cdot W-algebras \cdot Quantum groups \cdot Quiver \cdot Instanton

Mathematics Subject Classification 81T60 · 81R10 · 14D21 · 81R50

Contents

1	Introduction	1384
2	Elliptic quiver gauge theory	1385
	2.1 Quiver	1385
	2.2 Elliptic index	1386
	2.3 Partition function	1387
3	Operator formalism	1389
	3.1 Z-state	1389
	3.2 Screening charge	1391
	3.3 Trace formula	1391
	3.3.1 Connection to elliptic quantum group	1392
	3.4 Y-operator	1393
	3.5 V-operator	1395
4	Elliptic W-algebra	1396
	4.1 A_1 quiver	1396

⊠ Vasily Pestun pestun@ihes.fr

¹ Keio University, Tokyo, Japan

² IHES, Bures-sur-Yvette, France

4.2 Higher weight current and collision	398
4.3 Generic quiver	399
4.4 A_r quiver	399
4.5 \hat{A}_0 quiver	400
Appendix A: Proof of trace formula (3.19)	401
A.1 Coherent state basis	401
A.2 Torus correlation function	402
References	403

1 Introduction

The Seiberg–Witten theory [2,3] provides an illuminating geometrical description of the Coulomb branch of the moduli space of vacua \mathcal{M}_{vacua} of the four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theory: the space \mathcal{M}_{vacua} is the base of a certain algebraic integrable system associated to the 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theory [4–7]. The abelian varieties appearing in the fibers of the algebraic integrable system can be realized as Jacobian (Prym) varieties of certain spectral algebraic curve called Seiberg–Witten curve.

A typical example of an integrable system associated to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theory is the affine n-particle Toda model associated to the pure vector $\mathcal{N} = 2 U(n)$ gauge multiplet. Another example is the classical limit of SU(2) rational *r*-matrix spin chain, which is associated to U(n) theory with $n_f = 2n$ fundamental matter hypermultiplets [8].

For $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge theory with the gauge group $\times_i U(\mathsf{n}_i)$, and with matter hypermultiplets in the fundamental and bifundamental representations, encoded by a quiver graph Γ , the corresponding integrable system is the integrable system of monopoles on $\mathbb{R}^2 \times S^1$ with gauge group G_{Γ} , whose Dynkin diagram is given by the graph Γ [9, 10]. Quantization of this integrable system is described by means of the Yangian algebra $Y(\mathfrak{g}_{\Gamma})$, which is also underlying symmetry algebra of rational *r*-matrix \mathfrak{g}_{Γ} spin chain.

Similarly, the correspondence holds for 5d Γ -quiver gauge theory compactified on S^1 , or 6d Γ -quiver gauge theory compactified on T^2 : the respective integrable system is the integrable system of G_{Γ} -monopoles on $\mathbb{R} \times T^2$ (integrable \mathfrak{g}_{Γ} -spin chains with trigonometric *r*-matrix) or G_{Γ} -monopoles on T^3 (integrable \mathfrak{g}_{Γ} -spin chains with elliptic *r*-matrix).

The quantization of the algebraic integrable system with Planck parameter \hbar corresponds to the equivariant deformation $\mathbb{R}^4_{\epsilon_1,\epsilon_2}$ of the space-time of the gauge theory [11,12] in the limit (ϵ_1, ϵ_2) = (\hbar , 0), and the supersymmetric vacua of the gauge theory on $\mathbb{R}^4_{\hbar,0}$ are identified with the spectrum of quantum integrable system [13,14].

After quantization the classical spectral curve (Seiberg–Witten curve) is promoted to the Baxter's TQ-relation (for linear chain quivers), or, more generally, to the equation that states that the q-character [15] evaluated on a certain element of quantum affine algebra is a polynomial function of the spectral parameter [16]. The polynomiality conjecture of [15] has been proven in [17].

The polynomial equation still holds for generic equivariant parameters (ϵ_1 , ϵ_2) if the *q*-character is replaced by a certain algebraic object. This object is called q_1q_2 character in [18], and in [1] this object was shown to be a generating current of $W_{q_1,q_2}(\mathfrak{g}_{\Gamma})$ algebra of [19], a generalization of *q*-Virasoro algebra of [20,21]. (See also [22] for realization of *qq*-character as a defect partition function). The gauge theory construction naturally involves bifundamental mass parameter μ_e assigned to each quiver edge $e \in \Gamma_1$. The cohomology class $[\mu] \in H^1(\Gamma, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$ is a non-trivial parameter of the algebra (not considered in [19]).

The construction of the algebra $W_{q_1,q_2}(\mathfrak{sl}_{r+1})$ associated to quiver gauge theory with *r* nodes explains the 5d version [23] of the AGT relation [24] for linear sl_{r+1} type quivers, with $U(n)^r$ gauge group, when combined with $r \leftrightarrow n$ duality [25] of topological string partition function computed by topological vertex [26–29]. (See also manifestation of the above duality as a spectral duality of integrable systems [30].)

In this paper, we generalize our construction [1] to the case of elliptic W-algebra using a six-dimensional quiver gauge theory compactified on a two-torus \check{T}^2 . Equivalently, under the T-duality for an affine ADE quiver Γ , this gauge theory is realized on a stack of fractional D3 branes in IIB string theory on $\mathbb{R}^4 \times T^2 \times \mathbb{R}^4/\tilde{\Gamma}$. Here $\mathbb{R}^4/\tilde{\Gamma}$ is the ADE singularity where $\tilde{\Gamma} \subset SU(2)$ is McKay associated discrete subgroup, and T^2 is the dual torus to \check{T}^2 ; see [10] for more details. The complex integrable system remembers only the complex structure of the torus T^2 . We denote by $p = e^{2\pi i \tau}$ the multiplicative modulus of the underlying elliptic curve, so that as a complex variety the compactification torus T^2 is isomorphic to $\mathbb{C}^{\times}/p^{\mathbb{Z}}$ or to $\mathbb{C}/(\mathbb{Z} + \mathbb{Z}\tau)$. The multiplicative spectral parameter $x \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}/p^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is periodic

$$x \simeq px \tag{1.1}$$

Our construction is similar to the case of the 5d gauge theory compactified on a circle S^1 [1], and thus is applicable to generic quiver in principle. However, because of the modular anomalies, we find satisfactory physical interpretation only for 'conformal' quivers, those are the quivers for which the corresponding 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory is conformal.

Recently, the elliptic deformation of W-algebra for A-type quivers has been also discussed in the context of topological string and supersymmetric gauge theory in [31, 32] and in [33–36]. See also [37–40] for elliptic generalizations. Our construction generalizes these results to generic quiver.

2 Elliptic quiver gauge theory

2.1 Quiver

We use the notations of [1].

Let Γ be a quiver with the set of nodes Γ_0 and the set of edges Γ_1 . The nodes are typically labeled by $i, j \in \Gamma_0$. For an edge e we denote its source node by s(e) and its target node by t(e) or write $e : i \to j$.

A quiver Γ defines $|\Gamma_0| \times |\Gamma_0|$ matrix (c_{ij})

$$c_{ij} = 2\delta_{ij} - \#(e:i \to j) - \#(e:j \to i), \qquad (2.1)$$

called the quiver Cartan matrix, which is symmetric. If there are no loops, all the diagonal elements are equal to 2, and such a matrix defines Kac–Moody algebra $\mathfrak{g}(\Gamma)$ with Dynkin diagram Γ .

2.2 Elliptic index

The six-dimensional Nekrasov's partition function is defined by the elliptic index of the instanton moduli space. Let τ be the modulus of the torus on which a six-dimensional theory is compactified, and put $p = e^{2\pi i \tau}$. The elliptic index functor \mathbb{I}_p converts additive Chern character class to the multiplicative elliptic class

$$\mathbb{I}_p\left[\sum_i x_i\right] = \prod_i \theta(x_i^{-1}; p)$$
(2.2)

where the short Jacobi theta function is

$$\theta(x; p) = (x; p)_{\infty} (px^{-1}; p)_{\infty} = \exp\left(-\sum_{m \neq 0} \frac{x^m}{m(1-p^m)}\right).$$
(2.3)

We assume p < 1 in this paper. Notice that our conventions are different from Ref. [16], which uses another version of theta function

$$\theta_1(x; p) = \iota p^{\frac{1}{8}}(p; p)_{\infty} x^{-\frac{1}{2}} \theta(x; p).$$
(2.4)

The index functor behaves under the reflection as follows,

$$\mathbb{I}_{p}\left[\mathbf{X}^{\vee}\right] = \begin{cases} (-1)^{\operatorname{rk}\mathbf{X}} (\det \mathbf{X}) \,\mathbb{I}_{p}\left[\mathbf{X}\right] & (\theta \text{-version}) \\ (-1)^{\operatorname{rk}\mathbf{X}} \mathbb{I}_{p}\left[\mathbf{X}\right] & (\theta_{1} \text{-version}) \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

because of

$$\theta(x; p) = (-x) \theta(x^{-1}; p).$$
 (2.6)

In the 5d limit the two versions correspond to the Dolbeault vs Dirac conventions. In this paper we will use the Dolbeault convention.¹ In the limit $p \rightarrow 0$, the 6d index is reduced to the 5d index

$$\lim_{p \to 0} \theta(x^{-1}; p) = 1 - x^{-1}.$$
(2.7)

For conformal quivers the two versions are equivalent.

To construct W-algebras from quiver gauge theory, we need to incorporate the higher time variables [47], so that the gauge theory partition function becomes a generating function of the observables. The fixed points are labeled by partitions $(\lambda_{i,\alpha,k})_{\alpha \in [1...n_i], k \in [1...n_i]}$. We introduce a set of variables

¹ The Dirac convention is also often used in the literature, for example, [16,41-44], while Refs. [31,32, 45,46] use the Dolbeault.

$$\mathcal{X}_{i} = \{x_{i,\alpha,k}\}_{\alpha \in [1...n_{i}], k \in [1...\infty]}, \qquad x_{i,\alpha,k} = \nu_{i,\alpha}q_{1}^{k-1}q_{2}^{\lambda_{i,\alpha,k}}, \qquad \mathcal{X} = \bigsqcup_{i \in \Gamma_{0}} \mathcal{X}_{i}$$

$$(2.8)$$

where $\mathbf{n}_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ is the rank of gauge group $U(\mathbf{n}_i)$ assigned to the node $i \in \Gamma_0$, and $(\nu_{i,\alpha})_{i \in \Gamma_0, \alpha \in [1...n_i]}$ are the exponentiated Coulomb moduli parameters. Let $\mathbf{i} : \mathcal{X} \to \Gamma_0$ be the node label such that $\mathbf{i}(x) = i$ for $x \in \mathcal{X}_i$. The time variables give rise to the potential term in the partition function

$$\exp\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} t_{i,m}^{(\pm)} \mathbf{Y}_{i}^{[\pm m]}\right)$$
(2.9)

where $\mathbf{Y}_{i}^{[m]}$ are fundamental observables of the quiver gauge theory [10,16]

$$\mathbf{Y}_{i}^{[m]} = \frac{1 - q_{1}^{m}}{1 - p^{m}} \sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}_{i}} x^{m} \,.$$
(2.10)

with the notation $\mathbf{Y}_i^{[-m]} = (\mathbf{Y}_i^{[m]})^{\vee}$. Notice that we need to introduce twice as many time higher time variables compared to the 5d case [1], which is reflected by the extra plus/minus label. This is the specifics of the elliptic algebras [45,48].

2.3 Partition function

The extended partition function $Z_T(t)$ can be computed using the localization formula for the T-fixed points in the moduli space \mathfrak{M} , characterized by a set of partitions λ [12]:

$$Z_{\mathsf{T}}(t) = \sum_{\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{M}^{\mathsf{T}}} \exp\left(-\sum_{(x_L, x_R) \in \Lambda^2 \mathcal{X}} \sum_{m \neq 0} \frac{1 - q_1^m}{m(1 - p^m)(1 - q_2^{-m})} \left(c_{\mathsf{i}(x_L), \mathsf{i}(x_R)}^+\right)^{[m]} \frac{x_R^m}{x_L^m}\right) \\ \times \exp\left(\sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}} \left(\log \mathfrak{q}_{\mathsf{i}(x)} \log_{q_2} \frac{x}{\mathring{x}} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1 - q_1^m}{1 - p^m} t_{\mathsf{i}(x), m}^{(+)} x^m + \frac{1 - q_1^{-m}}{1 - p^{-m}} t_{\mathsf{i}(x), m}^{(-)} x^{-m}\right)\right)\right)\right)$$
(2.11)

where q_i is the coupling constant for the node $i \in \Gamma_0$, and $\mathring{x}_{i,\alpha,k} = v_{i,\alpha}q_1^{k-1} \in \mathcal{X}_0$ denotes the ground configuration corresponding to the empty partition $\lambda = \emptyset$. The factor $\log_{q_2}(x/\mathring{x})$ counts the number of boxes in the partition λ . The 'positive' part of the Cartan matrix is defined to be

$$c_{ij}^{+} = \delta_{ij} - \sum_{e:i \to j} \mu_e^{-1}$$
(2.12)

where the multiplicative bifundamental mass parameters $\mu_e \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ are assigned to edges $e \in \Gamma_1$, and $(c_{ij}^+)^{[m]}$ is obtained by replacing μ_e with μ_e^m , which is the *m*-th

Adams operation. In particular, the vector and bifundamental hypermultiplet contributions are given by

$$Z_i^{\text{vec}} = \prod_{(x,x')\in\mathcal{X}_i\times\mathcal{X}_i} \Gamma\left(q\frac{x}{x'};q_2,p\right)^{-1} \Gamma\left(q_2\frac{x}{x'};q_2,p\right), \qquad (2.13)$$

$$Z_{e;i \to j}^{\text{bf}} = \prod_{(x,x') \in \mathcal{X}_i \times \mathcal{X}_j} \Gamma\left(\mu_e^{-1}q \frac{x}{x'}; q_2, p\right) \Gamma\left(\mu_e^{-1}q_2 \frac{x}{x'}; q_2, p\right)^{-1}, \qquad (2.14)$$

where the elliptic gamma function is defined

$$\Gamma(x; p, q) = \exp\left(\sum_{m \neq 0} \frac{x^m}{m(1 - p^m)(1 - q^m)}\right).$$
(2.15)

Fundamental matter can be realized by a shift of higher time variables. To add a fundamental factor with mass parameter $\mu \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ to the node $i \in \Gamma_0$ one should shift

$$t_{i,m}^{(\pm)} \longrightarrow t_{i,m}^{(\pm)} \pm \frac{\mu^{\mp m} q^{\pm m}}{m(1-q_1^{\pm m})(1-q_2^{\pm m})}.$$
 (2.16)

As mentioned in Sect. 3.5, this shift of *t*-variables is equivalent to inserting a vertex operator. See also [31,49].

In contrast to 4d and 5d theories, the matter content of 6d theory is restricted due to the gauge anomaly, which is directly related to the modularity of elliptic theory. The theory is anomaly free if for all nodes $i \in \Gamma_0$

$$c_{ij}\mathsf{n}_j = \mathsf{n}_i^{\mathrm{f}} + \tilde{\mathsf{n}}_i^{\mathrm{f}} \tag{2.17}$$

where c_{ij} is the Cartan matrix associated with the quiver diagram Γ (2.1), and n_i^f and \tilde{n}_i^f are the numbers of fundamental and antifundamental multiplets for the node *i*. The phase space of the algebraic integrable system associated to the Coulomb branch of the 6d theory compactified on \check{T}^2 is the moduli space of G_{Γ} -monopoles with singularities on $T^2 \times S^1$. The Dirac singularities are associated to the fundamental mass multiplets, and the total monopole charge is associated to the rank of the gauge group. On a compact space $T^2 \times S^1$, because of the vanishing theorem, the total monopole charge is necessarily balanced by the charge of Dirac singularities, and this leads to the balance Eq. (2.17).

We introduce an order \succ on the set of eigenvalues \mathcal{X} , which is essentially the radial order in CFT. Then the sum over $(x_L, x_R) \in \Lambda^2 \mathcal{X}$ in the partition function is decomposed into the sum over the pairs $(x_L \succ x_R)$ and $(x_L \prec x_R)$, and the diagonal terms $(x_L = x_R)$. Since the diagonal part gives factors independent of the coupling constant, the Coulomb moduli, and so on, we will omit it. Then, using the reflection relation (2.5), the partition function is presented as a sum over the pairs $(x_L \succ x_R)$

$$Z_{\mathsf{T}}(t) = \sum_{\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{M}^{\mathsf{T}}} \exp\left(-\sum_{(x_L \succ x_R)} \left(\left(c^+_{\mathsf{i}(x_L),\mathsf{i}(x_R)}\right)^{[0]} \beta \log \frac{x_R}{x_L} + \sum_{m \neq 0} \frac{1 - q_1^m}{m(1 - p^m)(1 - q_2^{-m})} \left(c_{\mathsf{i}(x_L),\mathsf{i}(x_R)}\right)^{[m]} \frac{x_R^m}{x_L^m}\right)\right)$$
$$\times \exp\left(\sum_{x \in \mathcal{X}} \left(\log \mathfrak{q}_{\mathsf{i}(x)} \log_{q_2} \frac{x}{\mathring{x}} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1 - q_1^m}{1 - p^m} t^{(+)}_{\mathsf{i}(x),m} x^m + \frac{1 - q_1^{-m}}{1 - p^{-m}} t^{(-)}_{\mathsf{i}(x),m} x^{-m}\right)\right)\right)$$
(2.18)

where $\beta = -\epsilon_1/\epsilon_2$ and the mass-deformed Cartan matrix is [1]

$$c_{ij} = c_{ij}^{+} + c_{ij}^{-}, \quad c_{ij}^{-} = q^{-1} (c_{ji}^{+})^{\vee},$$

$$c_{ij} = (1 + q^{-1}) \delta_{ij} - \sum_{e:i \to j} \mu_e^{-1} - \sum_{e:j \to i} \mu_e q^{-1},$$
(2.19)

obeying the transpose relation

$$c_{ji} = q^{-1} c_{ij}^{\vee} \,. \tag{2.20}$$

The Cartan matrix (2.1) is reproduced in the limit $q \rightarrow 1, \mu_e \rightarrow 1$.

3 Operator formalism

3.1 Z-state

The gauge theory partition function $Z_{\mathsf{T}}(t)$ (2.18) can be interpreted as a state in the Fock space for the infinite-dimensional Heisenberg algebra **H** generated by $(t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}, \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}})_{i \in \Gamma_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}}$. The Fock space is generated from the vacuum state $|1\rangle$ by the action of the operators $t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}$. The vacuum state $|1\rangle$ is annihilated by the operators $\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}}$.

The *Z*-state is presented as an ordered product of vertex operators $S_{i(x),x}$ acting on the vacuum

$$|Z_{\mathsf{T}}\rangle = \sum_{\mathcal{X}\in\mathfrak{M}^{\mathsf{T}}} \prod_{x\in\mathcal{X}}^{\succ} S_{\mathsf{i}(x),x} |1\rangle, \qquad (3.1)$$

Deringer

where

$$S_{i,x} = :\exp\left(s_{i,0}\log x + \tilde{s}_{i,0} + \frac{\kappa_i}{2}\left(\log_{q_2}^2 x - \log_{q_2} x\right) + \sum_{m \neq 0} \left(s_{i,m}^{(+)} x^{-m} + s_{i,m}^{(-)} x^{+m}\right)\right):$$
(3.2)

The κ_i factor, which plays a similar role to the Chern–Simons term, is needed to obtain the agreement between the gauge theory definition and the operator formalism. As mentioned in Sect. 2.2, we need two sets of time variables for elliptic theory, denoted by $(t_{i,m}^{(+)})_{i \in \Gamma_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}}$ and $(t_{i,m}^{(-)})_{i \in \Gamma_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}}$. Then we introduce free field modes

$$s_{i,-m}^{(\pm)} \stackrel{m>0}{=} \frac{1-q_1^{\pm m}}{1-p^{\pm m}} t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}, \quad s_{i,0} = t_{i,0}, \quad s_{i,m}^{(\pm)} \stackrel{m>0}{=} \mp \frac{1}{m(1-q_2^{\mp m})} c_{ji}^{[\pm m]} \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{j,m}^{(\pm)}}.$$
(3.3)

The commutation relations are

$$\left[s_{i,m}^{(\pm)}, s_{j,m'}^{(\pm)}\right] = \mp \frac{1 - q_1^{\pm m}}{m(1 - p^{\pm m})(1 - q_2^{\mp m})} c_{ji}^{[\pm m]} \delta_{m+m',0}, \tag{3.4}$$

For the zero mode $s_{i,0}$ we set by definition $s_{i,0}^{(\pm)} = s_{i,0}$ and

$$\left[\tilde{s}_{i,0}, s_{j,m}^{(\pm)}\right] = -\beta \,\delta_{m,0} \,c_{ji}^{[0]} \,. \tag{3.5}$$

In the 5d limit $p \to 0$, the modes $s_{i,m}^{(-)}$ become trivial because

$$-\frac{1}{1-p^{-m}} = \frac{p^m}{1-p^m} \longrightarrow 0 \quad (p \to 0).$$
(3.6)

The Z-state (3.1) coincides with the gauge theory definition of the partition function (2.18) evaluated with the coupling constant

$$\log_{q_2} \mathfrak{q}_i = \beta + t_{i,0} + \mathsf{n}_j \left(c_{ji}^- \right)^{[\log_{q_2}]} - \log_{q_2} \left((-1)^{\mathsf{n}_j} \nu_j \right) \left(c_{ji}^- \right)^{[0]}$$
(3.7)

where

$$\nu_{i} = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{\mathsf{n}_{i}} \nu_{i,\alpha}, \qquad \left(c_{ij}^{-}\right)^{[\log_{q_{2}}]} = \delta_{ij} \log_{q_{2}} q^{-1} - \sum_{e:j \to i} \log_{q_{2}} \left(q^{-1} \mu_{e}\right), \qquad (3.8)$$

and the coefficients at all the nodes $i \in \Gamma_0$ satisfy

$$\kappa_i = \mathsf{n}_j \left(c_{ji}^- \right)^{[0]}. \tag{3.9}$$

Springer

3.2 Screening charge

The sum over the set of fixed points $\mathfrak{M}^{\mathsf{T}}$ in the partition function (3.1) can be replaced by the sum over $\mathbb{Z}^{\mathcal{X}_0}$ (see [1]):

$$|Z_{\mathsf{T}}\rangle = \sum_{\mathcal{X} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\mathcal{X}_0}} \prod_{x \in \mathcal{X}}^{\succ} S_{\mathsf{i}(x), x} |1\rangle.$$
(3.10)

Define 'the screening charge operator' to be:

$$S_{i,\mathring{x}} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} S_{i,q_2^k \mathring{x}},$$
 (3.11)

Then the state $|Z_T\rangle$ is obtained by the action of the ordered product of S_i on the vacuum state

$$|Z_{\mathsf{T}}\rangle = \prod_{\mathring{x}\in\mathcal{X}_{0}}^{\succ} \mathsf{S}_{\mathsf{i}(\mathring{x}),\mathring{x}}|1\rangle.$$
(3.12)

The vacuum $|1\rangle$ of the Heisenberg algebra **H** is represented by a constant function of the time variables $t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}$, and is annihilated by all the 'positive' oscillators $s_{i,m}^{(\pm)}$ for m > 0. The dual (1) to the vacuum state is the linear form on the Fock space represented by the evaluation of the functions of $t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}$ at $t_{i,m}^{(\pm)} = 0$.

Thus the non-*t*-extended partition function can be presented as the correlator of the screening charges [1] (and see also [49-51])

$$Z_{\mathsf{T}}(t=0) = \langle 1|Z_{\mathsf{T}} \rangle = \langle 1|\prod_{\mathring{x} \in \mathcal{X}_0} {}^{\succ} \mathsf{S}_{\mathsf{i}(\mathring{x}),\mathring{x}} |1\rangle.$$
(3.13)

3.3 Trace formula

Thinking in terms of the q-CFT on the torus, the correlator for 6d theory (3.13) can be written in the trace form in terms of the operators of the 5d theory (up to a normalization factor, which can be absorbed by redefinition of the gauge coupling constant)

$$Z_{\mathsf{T}}(t=0) = \operatorname{Tr}\left[p^{L_0}\prod_{\hat{x}\in\mathcal{X}_0}^{\succ} \mathsf{S}^{\mathrm{5d}}_{\mathsf{i}(\hat{x}),\hat{x}}\right].$$
(3.14)

Here the trace is taken over the Fock space of **H** with respect to the 5d time variables $\{t_{i,m}\}_{i\in\Gamma_0,i\in\mathbb{Z}_{>0}}$, and the screening charge is also defined with the oscillators used in 5d theory [1]. The energy operator L_0 is

$$L_0 = \sum_{i \in \Gamma_0} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} m t_{i,m} \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i,m}}.$$
(3.15)

The trace formula (3.14) can be obtained as follows.

Recall that the screening current correlator which gives the 5d gauge theory partition function is [1]

$$\left\langle S_{i,x}^{5d} S_{j,x'}^{5d} \right\rangle = \exp\left(-\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \frac{1-q_1^m}{1-q_2^{-m}} c_{ji}^{[m]} \frac{x'^m}{x^m}\right).$$
 (3.16)

Here we omit the zero modes for brevity. There are two options to deform the 5d index computed by (2.7) to the elliptic 6d index computed by (2.2).

The first option is to modify the oscillator algebra in such a way that the normal ordering produces the elliptic correlation function, as defined in Sect. 3.1,

$$\left\langle S_{i,x}^{6d} S_{j,x'}^{6d} \right\rangle = \exp\left(-\sum_{m\neq 0}^{\infty} \frac{1-q_1^m}{m(1-p^m)(1-q_2^{-m})} c_{ji}^{[m]} \frac{x'^m}{x^m}\right).$$
(3.17)

The second option is to keep the free field oscillator commutation relations of the 5d theory of the correlator, but change the definition of the correlation function to the trace as follows

$$\left\langle S_{i,x}^{5d} S_{j,x'}^{5d} \right\rangle_{\text{torus}} = \text{Tr} \left[p^{L_0} S_{i,x}^{5d} S_{j,x'}^{5d} \right].$$
 (3.18)

The proof of the equivalence

$$\left\langle S_{i,x}^{6d} S_{j,x'}^{6d} \right\rangle = \operatorname{Tr} \left[p^{L_0} S_{i,x}^{5d} S_{j,x'}^{5d} \right],$$
(3.19)

is in 'Appendix A'. Then the trace formula (3.14) follows.

The physical meaning is as follows. For the 5d gauge theory we use the cylindrical space-time for the *q*-Toda to compute the partition function, as shown in the top panel of Fig. 1. For the 6d gauge theory we use the toric space-time for the *q*-Toda obtained by the identification (1.1), illustrated in the LHS of Fig. 1 (bottom). This corresponds to (3.13), and is actually equivalent to taking the trace with the operator p^{L_0} inserted. This trace version (3.14) also agrees with the spectral duality for elliptic theory [31,32,34] because the dual theory is $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ theory (or cyclic quiver theory), whose partition function is given by the torus conformal block via the *q*-version of the AGT relation [24].

3.3.1 Connection to elliptic quantum group

It has been known that the q-deformation of W-algebra has a close connection with the elliptic quantum algebra $U_{q,p}(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})$: The screening current of $W_{q_1,q_2}(\mathfrak{g})$ obeys essentially

Fig. 1 Conformal blocks as the partition function of 5d (top) and 6d theory (bottom). The 6d block has two equivalent expressions

the same relation to the elliptic currents $e_i(z)$ and $f_i(z)$ of $U_{q,p}(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})$ [52]. See [53] for the relations for generic \mathfrak{g} . We see from (3.16) that the 5d screening currents yields

$$S_{i,x}^{\text{5d}}S_{j,x'}^{\text{5d}} = S_{j,x'}^{\text{5d}}S_{i,x}^{\text{5d}} \times \exp\left(-\sum_{m\neq 0}\frac{1}{m}\frac{1-q_1^m}{1-q_2^{-m}}c_{ji}^{[m]}\left(\frac{x'}{x}\right)^m\right)$$
(3.20)

where we omitted the zero mode factors for simplicity. One can rewrite the OPE factor using the theta function (2.3). Swapping $q_1 \leftrightarrow q_2$ corresponds to swapping the currents $e_i(z) \leftrightarrow f_i(z)$.

From (3.17), on the other hand, we obtain exactly the same relation for the 6d screening currents

$$S_{i,x}^{\text{6d}}S_{j,x'}^{\text{6d}} = S_{j,x'}^{\text{6d}}S_{i,x}^{\text{6d}} \times \exp\left(-\sum_{m\neq 0}\frac{1}{m}\frac{1-q_1^m}{1-q_2^{-m}}c_{ji}^{[m]}\left(\frac{x'}{x}\right)^m\right)$$
(3.21)

This coincidence implies that both the *q*-deformation $W_{q_1,q_2}(\mathfrak{g})$ and the elliptic deformation $W_{q_1,q_2,p}(\mathfrak{g})$ belong to the same realization of the elliptic quantum algebra $U_{q,p}(\widehat{\mathfrak{g}})$.

3.4 Y-operator

To construct W-algebras we introduce Y-operators, corresponding to the doubled potential term (2.9)

$$\mathbf{Y}_{i,x} = q_1^{\tilde{\rho}_i} : \exp\left(y_{i,0} - (\tilde{c}_{ji})^{[0]} \kappa_j \log x + \sum_{m \neq 0} \left(y_{i,m}^{(+)} x^{-m} + y_{i,m}^{(-)} x^{+m}\right)\right) :,$$
(3.22)

where $\tilde{\rho}_i$ is the Weyl vector defined by $\tilde{\rho}_i = \sum_{j \in \Gamma_0} \tilde{c}_{ji}^{[0]}$, and \tilde{c}_{ij} is the inverse of mass-deformed Cartan matrix c_{ij} . The affine case with $\det(c_{ij}^{[0]}) = 0$ will be discussed in Sec. 4.5. In the following, we set $\kappa_i = 0$ for $\forall i \in \Gamma_0$ for simplicity. The oscillators $y_{i,m}^{(\pm)}$ are defined in terms of $t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}}$

$$y_{i,-m}^{(\pm)} \stackrel{m \ge 0}{=} \frac{(1 - q_1^{\pm m})(1 - q_2^{\pm m})}{1 - p^{\pm m}} \left(\tilde{c}^{[\mp m]}\right)_{ji} t_{j,m}^{(\pm)},\tag{3.23}$$

$$y_{i,m}^{(\pm)} \stackrel{m>0}{=} \mp \frac{1}{m} \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}},$$
(3.24)

$$y_{i,0} = -t_{j,0} \tilde{c}_{ji}^{[0]} \log q_2.$$
(3.25)

They satisfy the commutation relation:

$$\left[y_{i,m}^{(\pm)}, y_{j,m'}^{(\pm)}\right] = \mp \frac{1}{m} \frac{(1 - q_1^{\pm m})(1 - q_2^{\pm m})}{1 - p^{\pm m}} (\tilde{c}^{[\mp m]})_{ij} \,\delta_{m+m',0} \,. \tag{3.26}$$

In terms of the free field $s_{i,m}^{(\pm)}$, we have

$$y_{i,m}^{(\pm)} \stackrel{m\neq 0}{=} (1 - q_2^{\mp m}) \tilde{c}_{ji}^{[\pm m]} s_{j,m}^{(\pm)}, \qquad y_{i,0} = \left(\log q_2^{-1}\right) \tilde{c}_{ji}^{[0]} s_{j,0}, \qquad (3.27)$$

hence the [y, s] commutation relations are

$$\left[y_{i,m}^{(\pm)}, s_{j,m'}^{(\pm)}\right] = \mp \frac{1}{m} \frac{1 - q_1^{\pm m}}{1 - p^{\pm m}} \delta_{m+m',0} \delta_{ij}, \qquad \left[\tilde{s}_{i,0}, y_{j,0}\right] = -\delta_{ij} \log q_1. \quad (3.28)$$

This leads to the normal ordered product (with the ordering |x| > |x'|)

$$\mathsf{Y}_{i,x}S_{i,x'} = \frac{\theta(x'/x; p)}{\theta(q_1 x'/x; p)} : \mathsf{Y}_{i,x}S_{i,x'} :, \quad \mathsf{Y}_{i,x}S_{j,x'} = : \mathsf{Y}_{i,x}S_{j,x'} : \text{ for } i \neq j.$$
(3.29)

The expectation value of the Y-function has infinitely many poles at $x = x'q_1p^n$ for $\forall n \in \mathbb{Z}$ for each configuration $\mathcal{X} \in \mathfrak{M}^T$ that labels the insertion of the screening currents:

$$\langle 1| \mathbf{Y}_{i,x} \prod_{x' \in \mathcal{X}}^{\succ} S_{\mathbf{i}(i),x'} | 1 \rangle = q_1^{\tilde{\rho}_i} \left(\prod_{x' \in \mathcal{X}_i} \frac{\theta(x'/x;p)}{\theta(q_1 x'/x;p)} \right) \langle 1| \prod_{x' \in \mathcal{X}}^{\succ} S_{\mathbf{i}(i),x'} | 1 \rangle.$$
(3.30)

🖉 Springer

On the other hand, for |x| < |x'|, we have

$$S_{i,x'} \mathbf{Y}_{i,x} = q_1^{-1} \frac{\theta(x/x'; p)}{\theta(q_1^{-1}x/x'; p)} : \mathbf{Y}_{i,x} S_{i,x'} : .$$
(3.31)

Therefore the commutator gives

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{Y}_{i,x} , S_{i,x'} \end{bmatrix} = \left(\frac{\theta(x'/x;p)}{\theta(q_1 x'/x;p)} - q_1^{-1} \frac{\theta(x/x';p)}{\theta(q_1^{-1} x/x';p)} \right) : \mathsf{Y}_{i,x} S_{i,x'} :$$

= $\frac{\theta(q_1^{-1};p)}{(p;p)_{\infty}^2} \delta(q_1 x'/x) : \mathsf{Y}_{i,x} S_{i,x'} :.$ (3.32)

The last expression is due to the identity [45]

$$\frac{\theta(az; p)}{\theta(z; p)} = \frac{\theta(a; p)}{(p; p)_{\infty}^2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{z^n}{1 - ap^n},$$
(3.33)

which is obtained by using Ramanujan's summation formula with the delta function defined

$$\delta(x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} x^n \,. \tag{3.34}$$

This means that, in the limit $q_1 \rightarrow 1$, the Y-operator commutes with the screening current, and it reproduces a commutative algebra [16].

3.5 V-operator

We can incorporate the (anti)fundamental matter contribution in the operator formalism by considering another vertex operator,

$$\mathsf{V}_{i,x} = : \exp\left(\sum_{m \neq 0} \left(v_{i,m}^{(+)} x^{-m} + v_{i,m}^{(-)} x^{+m} \right) \right) : .$$
(3.35)

To reproduce the *t*-variable shift (2.16), the oscillators are taken to be

$$v_{i,-m}^{(\pm)} \stackrel{m>0}{=} -\frac{1}{1-p^{\pm m}} \tilde{c}_{ji}^{[\pm m]} t_{j,m}^{(\pm)}, \qquad v_{i,m}^{(\pm)} \stackrel{m>0}{=} \pm \frac{1}{m} \frac{1}{\left(1-q_{1}^{\pm m}\right)\left(1-q_{2}^{\pm m}\right)} \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i,m}^{(\pm)}},$$
(3.36)

and the commutation relation

$$\left[v_{i,m}^{(\pm)}, s_{j,m'}^{(\pm)}\right] = \pm \frac{1}{m(1-p^{\pm m})(1-q_2^{\pm m})} \,\delta_{m+m',0}\delta_{ij}\,. \tag{3.37}$$

Deringer

We remark

$$v_{i,m}^{(\pm)} = -\frac{1}{\left(1 - q_1^{\pm m}\right)\left(1 - q_2^{\pm m}\right)} y_{i,m}^{(\pm)}.$$
(3.38)

The product of V and S operators behaves

$$\mathsf{V}_{i,x}\mathsf{S}_{i,x'} = \Gamma\left(\frac{x'}{x}; p, q_2\right) : \mathsf{V}_{i,x}\mathsf{S}_{i,x'} :, \tag{3.39}$$

$$S_{i,x'}V_{i,x} = \Gamma\left(\frac{x}{x'}; p, q_2\right)^{-1} : V_{i,x}S_{i,x'}:,$$
 (3.40)

which corresponds to the fundamental and antifundamental matter factors, respectively, while the OPE of V and V does not yield dynamical contribution. The *t*-extended partition function with the (anti)fundamental matter factors is given by

$$|Z_{\mathsf{T}}\rangle = \left(\prod_{x \in \mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{f}}} \mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{i}(x), x}\right) \left(\prod_{\mathring{x} \in \mathcal{X}_{0}} \mathsf{S}_{\mathsf{i}(\mathring{x}), \mathring{x}}\right) \left(\prod_{x \in \tilde{\mathcal{X}}_{\mathrm{f}}} \mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{i}(x), x}\right) |1\rangle$$
(3.41)

where $\mathcal{X}_{f} = \{\mu_{i,f}\}_{i \in \Gamma_{0}, f \in [1,...,n_{i}^{f}]}$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{X}}_{f} = \{\tilde{\mu}_{i,f}\}_{i \in \Gamma_{0}, f \in [1,...,\tilde{n}_{i}^{f}]}$ are sets of (anti)fundamental mass parameters. This mass parameter characterizes the pole on the elliptic curve at $x = \mu_{i,f}$, which is added by the vertex operator $V_{i(x),x}$ with $x \in \mathcal{X}_{f}$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{X}}_{f}$.

We again remark that, for the modular invariance of the non-extended partition function $\langle 1|Z_T \rangle$, which is a conformal block of $W(\Gamma)$ -algebra, we have to take into account the conformal condition (2.17), although the Z-state (3.41) is not necessarily modular invariant by itself.

4 Elliptic W-algebra

To construct quiver elliptic W-algebras we build holomorphic qq-character currents [1, 18] (see also [54,55]).

4.1 A_1 quiver

For the simplest quiver $\Gamma = A_1$, the qq-character is

$$T_{1,x} = \mathbf{Y}_{1,x} + \mathbf{Y}_{1,q^{-1}x}^{-1} \,. \tag{4.1}$$

Let us show that $T_{1,x}$ commutes with the screening charge $S_{1,x'}$, which assures the regularity of the *qq*-character.

Here are the possible terms appearing in the commutation relation between the qq-character and the screening current,

$$\mathbf{Y}_{1,x}S_{1,x'} = \frac{\theta(x'/x; p)}{\theta(q_1 x'/x; p)} : \mathbf{Y}_{1,x}S_{1,x'} :,$$
(4.2)

$$S_{1,x'}\mathsf{Y}_{1,x} = q_1^{-1} \frac{\theta(x/x'; p)}{\theta(q_1^{-1}x/x'; p)} : S_{1,x'}\mathsf{Y}_{1,x} :,$$
(4.3)

$$\mathbf{Y}_{1,q^{-1}x}^{-1} S_{1,x''} = \frac{\theta(qq_1 x''/x; p)}{\theta(qx''/x; p)} : \mathbf{Y}_{1,q^{-1}x}^{-1} S_{1,x''} :,$$
(4.4)

$$S_{1,x''} \mathsf{Y}_{1,q^{-1}x}^{-1} = q_1 \frac{\theta(q^{-1}q_1^{-1}x/x'';p)}{\theta(q^{-1}x/x'';p)} : S_{1,x''} \mathsf{Y}_{1,q^{-1}x}^{-1} : .$$
(4.5)

As shown in (3.29), the first two terms possibly have infinitely many poles at $x = x'q_1p^n$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, while the last two terms involve poles at $x = x''qp^n$. These poles are actually canceled with each other because the screening charge is defined as a sum over the screening current under the q_2 -shift: there is a term $S_{1,x''}$ with $x' = q_2x''$ for every $S_{1,x'}$. Using the relation

$$q_1^{-1}: \mathsf{Y}_{1,x} \mathsf{Y}_{1,q^{-1}x} := :S_{1,q^{-1}x} S_{1,q_1^{-1}x}^{-1} :,$$
(4.6)

we can show that the residue of the first term (4.2) at $x = x'q_1p^n$ coincides with that of the fourth term (4.5) at $x = x''qp^n$ for $\forall n \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $x' = x''q_2$,

$$\operatorname{Res}_{x \to x'q_1 p^n} \left[\mathsf{Y}_{1,x} S_{1,x'} \right] = \operatorname{Res}_{x \to x'q_1 p^n} \left[S_{1,x'q_2^{-1}} \mathsf{Y}_{1,xq^{-1}}^{-1} \right].$$
(4.7)

Similarly we have a coincidence of (4.3) and (4.4),

$$\operatorname{Res}_{x \to x' q_1 p^n} \left[S_{1,x'} \mathsf{Y}_{1,x} \right] = \operatorname{Res}_{x \to x' q_1 p^n} \left[\mathsf{Y}_{1,xq^{-1}}^{-1} S_{1,x'q_1^{-1}}^{-1} \right].$$
(4.8)

This shows that the regularity of the qq-character for elliptic A_1 theory

$$\partial_{\bar{x}} T_{1,x} \left| Z_{\mathsf{T}} \right\rangle = 0, \qquad (4.9)$$

which is equivalent to the commutativity of the holomorphic current with the screening charge,

$$\left[T_{1,x}, \, \mathsf{S}_{1,x'}\right] = 0\,. \tag{4.10}$$

The commutant of the screening charge is a well-defined conserved current, which provides time-independent modes

$$T_{1,x} = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} T_{1,m} \, x^{-m} \,. \tag{4.11}$$

Deringer

The modes of this conserved current define the elliptic algebra $W_{q_1,q_2,p}(A_1)$ as the subalgebra of the Heisenberg algebra **H** (the A_1 case was discussed in [31,32]).

4.2 Higher weight current and collision

We can compute the higher weight current $T_{i,x}^{[\mathbf{w}]}$ using the free field representation of the vertex operator. For A_1 quiver, the degree two current plays an important role in the definition of the elliptic algebra $W_{q_1,q_2,p}(A_1)$. The product is given by

$$T_{1,w_{1}x}T_{1,w_{2}x} = \left(\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{1}x} + \mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{1}xq^{-1}}^{-1}\right)\left(\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{2}x} + \mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{2}xq^{-1}}^{-1}\right)$$

= $f(w_{2}/w_{1})^{-1}\left(:\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{1}x}\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{2}x}:$
+ $\$(w_{1}/w_{2}):\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{1}x}\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{2}xq^{-1}}^{-1}: + \$(w_{2}/w_{1}):\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{2}x}\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{1}xq^{-1}}^{-1}:$
+ $:\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{1}xq^{-1}}^{-1}\mathsf{Y}_{1,w_{2}xq^{-1}}^{-1}:\right)$ (4.12)

where the scalar factor

$$f(w) = \exp\left(\sum_{m \neq 0} \frac{(1 - q_1^m)(1 - q_2^m)}{m(1 - p^m)(1 + q^m)} w^m\right)$$
(4.13)

which appears in the algebraic relation of the elliptic Virasoro algebra $W_{q_1,q_2,p}(A_1)$ [32], and the permutation factor

$$S(w) = \frac{\theta(q_1w; p)\theta(q_2w; p)}{\theta(w; p)\theta(qw; p)}.$$
(4.14)

Notice the relation

$$f(w)f(qw) = \mathcal{S}(w). \tag{4.15}$$

We obtain the commutation relation for the elliptic Virasoro generators, defined as the modes of the holomorphic current, from the product expression

$$f(w_2/w_1)T_{1,w_1x}T_{1,w_2x} - f(w_1/w_2)T_{1,w_2x}T_{1,w_1x} = \frac{\theta(q_1; p)\theta(q_2; p)}{(p; p)_{\infty}^2\theta(q; p)} \left(\delta\left(q\frac{w_1}{w_2}\right) - \delta\left(q\frac{w_2}{w_1}\right)\right).$$
(4.16)

The degree *n* current with the weight (w_1, \ldots, w_n) is computed in a similar way

$$T_{1,x}^{[\mathbf{w}]} =: \mathbf{Y}_{1,w_{1}x} \mathbf{Y}_{1,w_{2}x} \cdots \mathbf{Y}_{1,w_{n}} : + \cdots$$
$$= \sum_{I \cup J = \{1...n\}} \prod_{i \in I, j \in J} S\left(\frac{w_{i}}{w_{j}}\right) : \prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{Y}_{1,w_{i}x} \prod_{j \in J} \mathbf{Y}_{1,w_{j}xq^{-1}}^{-1} : .$$
(4.17)

🖄 Springer

Algebraically, this expression is exactly the same as in the $W_{q_1,q_2}(A_1)$ -algebra [1,18], except that the factor S(w) is replaced by the elliptic index version.

In addition, we can consider the collision limit of the currents which produces derivative terms. For example, the product of the currents $Y_{1,x}Y_{1,wx}$ in the limit $w \rightarrow 1$ gives

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{S}(w) : \mathsf{Y}_{1,wx} \mathsf{Y}_{1,xq^{-1}}^{-1} : + \mathbb{S}\left(w^{-1}\right) : \mathsf{Y}_{1,x} \mathsf{Y}_{1,wxq^{-1}}^{-1} : \\ & \xrightarrow{w \to 1} : \mathsf{Y}_{1,x} \mathsf{Y}_{1,xq^{-1}}^{-1} \left(\mathfrak{c}(q_{1}, q_{2}, p) - \frac{\theta(q_{1}; p)\theta(q_{2}; p)}{(p; p)_{\infty}^{2}\theta(q; p)} x \partial_{x} \log\left(\mathsf{Y}_{1,x} \mathsf{Y}_{1,xq^{-1}}\right) \right) : . \end{split}$$

$$(4.18)$$

The coefficient is given by

$$\mathfrak{c}(q_1, q_2, p) = \lim_{w \to 1} \left(\mathfrak{S}(w) + \mathfrak{S}(w^{-1}) \right), \tag{4.19}$$

which is finite, although the factor S(w) itself has a pole at w = 1.

4.3 Generic quiver

Now we have an algorithm to compute the qq-character for generic quiver. The fundamental qq-character corresponding to the node $i \in \Gamma_0$ starts with $Y_{i,x}$, and the following terms are generated by the iWeyl reflection [1, 10, 16, 18]:

$$T_{i,x} = \mathbf{Y}_{i,x} + : \mathbf{Y}_{i,xq^{-1}}^{-1} \prod_{e:i \to j} \mathbf{Y}_{j,\mu_e^{-1}x} \prod_{e:j \to i} \mathbf{Y}_{j,\mu_e q^{-1}x} : + \cdots .$$
(4.20)

If there is a product of the same Y-operators in a term, we apply the permutation factor (4.14). We can prove the regularity of this current, and the commutativity with the screening charge in exactly the same way as in [1],

$$\left[T_{i,x}, \mathbf{S}_{i,x'}\right] = 0.$$
(4.21)

Similarly, the holomorphic current $T_{i,x}$ generates well-defined modes, which define the elliptic algebra $W_{q_1,q_2,p}(\Gamma)$.

4.4 A_r quiver

We consider an example of a linear quiver A_r , which leads to the elliptic algebra $W_{q_1,q_2,p}(A_r)$. The iWeyl reflection computes the qq-character for each node $i \in \Gamma_0$,

$$T_{i,\mu_{1\to i}^{-1}x} = \sum_{1 \le j_1 < \dots < j_i \le r+1} : \prod_{k=1}^{l} \Lambda_{j_k,q^{-i+k_x}} :$$
(4.22)

🖄 Springer

where

$$\Lambda_{i,x} = \mathbf{Y}_{i,\mu_{1\Rightarrow i}^{-1}x} \mathbf{Y}_{i-1,\mu_{1\Rightarrow i-1}^{-1}q^{-1}x}^{-1}$$
(4.23)

with $Y_{0,x} = Y_{r+1,x} = 1$ and the mass product defined

$$\mu_{1 \Rightarrow i} := \mu_{1 \to 2} \mu_{2 \to 3} \cdots \mu_{i-1 \to i} = \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} \mu_{j \to j+1} \,. \tag{4.24}$$

Remark that

$$:\prod_{i=1}^{r+1} \Lambda_{i,q^{i-1}x} := 1.$$
(4.25)

This is the mass-deformed quantum Miura transformation of A_r theory. For example, the first character, corresponding to the fundamental representation, is given by

$$T_{1,x} = \sum_{i=1}^{r+1} \Lambda_{i,x}$$

= $\mathbf{Y}_{1,x} + : \mathbf{Y}_{2,\mu_{1\Rightarrow2}^{-1}x} \mathbf{Y}_{1,q^{-1}x}^{-1} : + \dots + : \mathbf{Y}_{r,\mu_{1\Rightarrowr}^{-1}q^{-1}x}^{-1} : .$ (4.26)

4.5 \widehat{A}_0 quiver

So far we have assumed that there is no self-connecting edge (a loop) in a quiver. Let us now study an example having a single node with a self-connecting edge, called \widehat{A}_0 quiver (corresponding to 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ gauge theory), whose Cartan matrix is (0) and its mass-deformation is given by [1]

$$c = 1 + q^{-1} - \mu^{-1} - \mu q^{-1}.$$
(4.27)

where $\mu \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ is the multiplicative adjoint mass. Then the commutation relation for the free field $y_{i,m}^{(\pm)}$ (3.26) becomes

$$\left[y_{1,m}^{(\pm)}, y_{1,m'}^{(\pm)}\right] = \mp \frac{1}{m} \frac{(1-q_1^{\pm m})(1-q_2^{\pm m})}{(1-p^{\pm m})(1-\mu^{\pm m})(1-\mu^{\mp m}q^{\pm m})} \delta_{m+m',0} \,. \tag{4.28}$$

The generating current is obtained from the iWeyl reflection

$$\mathbf{Y}_{1,x} + \mathfrak{q}\,\mathfrak{S}(\mu^{-1}) \,:\, \mathbf{Y}_{1,xq^{-1}}^{-1}\mathbf{Y}_{1,\mu^{-1}x}\mathbf{Y}_{1,\mu q^{-1}x} \,:\,, \tag{4.29}$$

which provides a closed formula

$$T_{1,x} = \sum_{\lambda} \mathfrak{q}^{|\lambda|} Z_{\lambda}^{\hat{A}_0}(\tilde{q}_1, \tilde{q}_2, \tilde{\nu}, \tilde{\mu}) : \prod_{s \in \partial_+ \lambda} \mathsf{Y}_{1, qx/\tilde{x}(s)} \prod_{s \in \partial_- \lambda} \mathsf{Y}_{1, x/\tilde{x}(s)}^{-1} :, \qquad (4.30)$$

where $\partial_{+}\lambda$ and $\partial_{-}\lambda$ are the outer and inner boundary of the partition λ , and we define

$$\tilde{x}(s) = (\mu^{-1}q)^{s_1 - 1} \mu^{s_2 - 1}q.$$
(4.31)

The factor $Z_{\lambda}^{\hat{A}_0}(\tilde{q}_1, \tilde{q}_2, \tilde{\nu}, \tilde{\mu})$ is the elliptic Nekrasov function for \hat{A}_0 quiver ($\mathcal{N} = 2^*$ theory) with U(1) gauge node, evaluated at the partition λ with the 'dual' variables [1, 16]

$$\tilde{q}_1 = \mu^{-1} q$$
, $\tilde{q}_2 = \mu$, $\tilde{\mu} = q_2$, $\tilde{\nu} = q$, (4.32)

so that (4.31) leads to the dual of *x*-variable $\tilde{x}(k, \lambda_k + 1) = \tilde{x}_k \in \tilde{\mathcal{X}}$ where $(k, \lambda + 1) \in \partial_+ \lambda$.

The current (4.30) is an infinite sum over partitions. Notice that for degenerate Cartan matrix it is not possible to absorb the zero mode coupling constant q to the definition of the Y, and q appears explicitly in the expression for $T_{1,x}$. For |q| < 1 the infinite sum over the partitions converges by the same argument as the convergence of the generating function for the number of partitions $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} n_k q^k = \prod_{p=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^p)^{-1}$. We define the affine elliptic algebra $W_{q_1,q_2,p}(\hat{A}_0)$ as generated by the modes $\tilde{T}_{1,n}$ of current $T_{1,x} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \tilde{T}_{1,n} x^{-n}$. For a current $T_{1,x}^{[W]}$ of higher weight W_1 the sum is labeled by W-colored partitions [1,18].

Acknowledgements The work of T.K. was supported in part by Keio Gijuku Academic Development Funds, JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (No. JP17K18090), the MEXT-Supported Program for the Strategic Research Foundation at Private Universities "Topological Science" (No. S1511006), JSPS Grantin-Aid for Scientific Research on Innovative Areas "Topological Materials Science" (No. JP15H05855), and "Discrete Geometric Analysis for Materials Design" (No. JP17H06462). VP acknowledges grant RFBR 15-01-04217 and RFBR 16-02-01021. The research of VP on this project has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (QUASIFT grant agreement 677368).

Appendix A: Proof of trace formula (3.19)

In this Appendix we prove the equivalence (3.19) using the coherent state basis.

A.1 Coherent state basis

The argument in this part is essentially parallel to the textbook [56].

For oscillator algebra generated by (t, ∂_t) with $[\partial_t, t] = 1$ we consider the coherent state basis in the Fock space

$$|n\rangle = \frac{t^n}{\sqrt{n!}} |0\rangle$$
, $\langle n| = \langle 0| \frac{\partial^n}{\sqrt{n!}}$, $|z\rangle = e^{zt} |0\rangle$, $(z| = \langle 0| e^{z^*\partial}$ (A.1)

The normalization is

$$\langle n|m\rangle = \delta_{n,m}, \qquad (z|w) = e^{z^*w}.$$
 (A.2)

The states in (A.1) are eigenstates of the filling number operator $t \partial |n\rangle = n |n\rangle$ and the annihilation/creation operators $\partial |z\rangle = z|z\rangle$, $(z|t = (z|z^*)$. Notice that the operator $a^{t\partial_t}$ acts on the states $|z\rangle$ and (z| as,

$$a^{t\partial_t}|z) = |az\rangle, \quad (z|a^{t\partial_t} = (a^*z|.$$
 (A.3)

The identity operator can be expressed in terms of the coherent state basis:

$$\mathbb{1} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int d^2 z \, |z| e^{-|z|^2} (z) \tag{A.4}$$

where

$$\langle n|\mathbb{1}|m\rangle = \delta_{n,m} \,, \tag{A.5}$$

so that the trace of an operator is

$$\operatorname{Tr} \mathcal{O} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int d^2 z \, e^{-|z|^2} (z|\mathcal{O}|z) \,. \tag{A.6}$$

Then we find [57]

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[a^{t\partial}e^{b\partial}e^{ct}\right] = \frac{1}{1-a}\exp\left(\frac{abc}{1-a}\right)$$
(A.7)

because

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \int d^2 z \, e^{-|z|^2} (z |a^{t\partial_t} e^{bt} e^{c\partial_t} | z) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int d^2 z \, e^{-(1-a)|z|^2 + abz^* + cz} \,. \tag{A.8}$$

A.2 Torus correlation function

Let us compute the torus correlation function (3.18). The product of the 5d screening currents is given by

$$S_{i,x}^{\text{5d}}S_{j,x'}^{\text{5d}} = \exp\left(-\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \frac{1-q_1^m}{1-q_2^{-m}} c_{ji}^{[m]} \frac{x'^m}{x^m}\right) : S_{i,x}^{\text{5d}}S_{j,x'}^{\text{5d}} : .$$
(A.9)

Then we compute the trace part

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Tr}\left[p^{L_{0}}:S_{i,x}^{\mathrm{5d}}S_{j,x'}^{\mathrm{5d}}:\right] \\ &= \operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(\prod_{i'\in\Gamma_{0}}\prod_{n=1}^{\infty}p^{nt_{i',n}}\partial_{i',n}\right)\exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}(1-q_{1}^{n})\left(x^{n}t_{i,n}+x'^{n}t_{j,n}\right)\right)\right. \\ &\quad \times\exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}-\frac{1}{n(1-q_{2}^{-n})}\left(x^{-n}c_{ki}^{[n]}\partial_{k,n}+x'^{-n}c_{lj}^{[n]}\partial_{l,n}\right)\right)\right] \\ &= \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\left(-\frac{1-q_{1}^{n}}{n(1-q_{2}^{-n})}\frac{p^{n}}{1-p^{n}}c_{ji}^{[n]}\frac{x'^{n}}{x^{n}}+\frac{1-q_{1}^{-n}}{n(1-q_{2}^{n})}\frac{1}{1-p^{-n}}c_{ji}^{[-n]}\frac{x^{n}}{x'^{n}}\right)\right) \\ &\quad \times\operatorname{const} \end{aligned}$$
(A.10)

where we have used the formulas (A.7) and (2.20), and the constant term does not contain x nor x'. Thus we obtain the torus correlator

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[p^{L_0}S_{i,x}^{\mathrm{5d}}S_{j,x'}^{\mathrm{5d}}\right] = \exp\left(-\sum_{n\neq 0}\frac{1-q_1^n}{n(1-q_2^{-n})(1-p^n)}c_{ji}^{[n]}\frac{x'^n}{x^n}\right).$$
 (A.11)

This is equivalent to (3.17), and proves the relation (3.19).

References

- 1. Kimura, T., Pestun, V.: Quiver W-algebras (2015). arXiv:1512.08533 [hep-th]
- Seiberg, N., Witten, E.: Monopoles, duality and chiral symmetry breaking in N = 2 supersymmetric QCD. Nucl. Phys. B431, 484–550 (1994). arXiv:hep-th/9408099 [hep-th]
- Seiberg, N., Witten, E.: Electric-magnetic duality, monopole condensation, and confinement in N = 2 supersymmetric Yang–Mills theory. Nucl. Phys. B426, 19–52 (1994). arXiv:hep-th/9407087 [hep-th]. [Erratum: Nucl. Phys. B430, 485 (1994)]
- Gorsky, A., Krichever, I., Marshakov, A., Mironov, A., Morozov, A.: Integrability and Seiberg-Witten exact solution. Phys. Lett. B355, 466–474 (1995). arXiv:hep-th/9505035 [hep-th]
- Martinec, E.J., Warner, N.P.: Integrable systems and supersymmetric gauge theory. Nucl. Phys. B459, 97–112 (1996). arXiv:hep-th/9509161 [hep-th]
- Donagi, R., Witten, E.: Supersymmetric Yang–Mills theory and integrable systems. Nucl. Phys. B460, 299–334 (1996). arXiv:hep-th/9510101 [hep-th]
- Seiberg, N., Witten, E.: Gauge dynamics and compactification to three-dimensions. In: *The mathematical beauty of physics: a memorial volume for Claude Itzykson*, vol. 24 of Advanced Series in Mathematical Physics, pp. 333–366. World Scientific (1997). arXiv:hep-th/9607163 [hep-th]
- Gorsky, A., Marshakov, A., Mironov, A., Morozov, A.: N = 2 supersymmetric QCD and integrable spin chains: Rational case N_F <2N_c. Phys. Lett. B380, 75–80 (1996). arXiv:hep-th/9603140 [hep-th]
- Nekrasov, N.: Five dimensional gauge theories and relativistic integrable systems. Nucl. Phys. B531, 323–344 (1998). arXiv:hep-th/9609219 [hep-th]
- Nekrasov, N., Pestun, V.: Seiberg–Witten geometry of four dimensional N = 2 quiver gauge theories (2012). arXiv:1211.2240 [hep-th]
- Moore, G.W., Nekrasov, N., Shatashvili, S.: Integrating over Higgs branches. Commun. Math. Phys. 209, 97–121 (2000). arXiv:hep-th/9712241
- Nekrasov, N.A.: Seiberg-Witten prepotential from instanton counting. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7, 831–864 (2004). arXiv:hep-th/0206161

- Nekrasov, N., Shatashvili, S.: Bethe Ansatz and supersymmetric vacua. AIP Conf. Proc. 1134, 154–169 (2009)
- Nekrasov, N.A., Shatashvili, S.L.: Quantization of integrable systems and four dimensional gauge theories. In: XVIth International Congress on Mathematical Physics, pp. 265–289 (2009). arXiv:0908.4052 [hep-th]
- Frenkel, E., Reshetikhin, N.: The q-characters of representations of quantum affine algebras and deformations of W-algebras. In: Recent Developments in Quantum Affine Algebras and Related Topics, vol. 248 of Contemporary Mathematics, pp. 163–205. American Mathematical Society (1999). arXiv:math/9810055 [math.QA]
- Nekrasov, N., Pestun, V., Shatashvili, S.: Quantum Geometry and Quiver Gauge Theories. Commun. Math. Phys. 357, 519–567 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-017-3071-y
- Frenkel, E., Hernandez, D.: Baxters relations and spectra of quantum integrable models. Duke Math. J. 164(12), 2407–2460 (2015). arXiv:1308.3444 [math.QA]
- Nekrasov, N.: BPS/CFT correspondence: non-perturbative Dyson-Schwinger equations and qqcharacters. JHEP 1603, 181 (2016). arXiv:1512.05388 [hep-th]
- Frenkel, E., Reshetikhin, N.: Deformations of W-algebras associated to simple Lie algebras. Commun. Math. Phys. 197, 1–32 (1998). arXiv:q-alg/9708006 [math.QA]
- Shiraishi, J., Kubo, H., Awata, H., Odake, S.: A Quantum deformation of the Virasoro algebra and the Macdonald symmetric functions. Lett. Math. Phys. 38, 33–51 (1996). arXiv:q-alg/9507034
- Frenkel, E., Reshetikhin, N.: Quantum affine algebras and deformations of the Virasoro and W-algebras. Commun. Math. Phys. 178, 237–264 (1996). arXiv:q-alg/9505025
- Kim, H.-C.: Line defects and 5d instanton partition functions. JHEP 1603, 199 (2016). arXiv:1601.06841 [hep-th]
- Awata, H., Yamada, Y.: Five-dimensional AGT conjecture and the deformed Virasoro algebra. JHEP 1001, 125 (2010). arXiv:0910.4431 [hep-th]
- Alday, L.F., Gaiotto, D., Tachikawa, Y.: Liouville correlation functions from four-dimensional gauge theories. Lett. Math. Phys. 91, 167–197 (2010). arXiv:0906.3219 [hep-th]
- Bao, L., Pomoni, E., Taki, M., Yagi, F.: M5-branes, toric diagrams and gauge theory duality. JHEP 1204, 105 (2012). arXiv:1112.5228 [hep-th]
- Aganagic, M., Klemm, A., Marino, M., Vafa, C.: The topological vertex. Commun. Math. Phys. 254, 425–478 (2005). arXiv:hep-th/0305132
- Maulik, D., Nekrasov, N., Okounkov, A., Pandharipande, R.: Gromov–Witten theory and Donaldson– Thomas theory, I. Compos. Math. 142, 1263–1285 (2006). arXiv:math/0312059 [math.AG]
- Maulik, D., Nekrasov, N., Okounkov, A., Pandharipande, R.: Gromov–Witten theory and Donaldson– Thomas theory, II. Compos. Math. 142, 1286–1304 (2006). arXiv:math/0406092 [math.AG]
- 29. Iqbal, A., Kozçaz, C., Vafa, C.: The refined topological vertex. JHEP 0910, 069 (2009). arXiv:hep-th/0701156
- Mironov, A., Morozov, A., Runov, B., Zenkevich, Y., Zotov, A.: Spectral dualities in XXZ spin chains and five dimensional gauge theories. JHEP 1312, 034 (2013). arXiv:1307.1502 [hep-th]
- 31. Iqbal, A., Kozçaz, C., Yau, S.-T.: Elliptic Virasoro conformal blocks (2015). arXiv:1511.00458 [hep-th]
- 32. Nieri, F.: An elliptic Virasoro symmetry in 6d. Lett. Math. Phys. 107, 2147–2187 (2017). arXiv:1511.00574 [hep-th]
- Mironov, A., Morozov, A., Zenkevich, Y.: On elementary proof of AGT relations from six dimensions. Phys. Lett. B756, 208–211 (2016). arXiv:1512.06701 [hep-th]
- Mironov, A., Morozov, A., Zenkevich, Y.: Spectral duality in elliptic systems, six-dimensional gauge theories and topological strings. JHEP 1605, 121 (2016). arXiv:1603.00304 [hep-th]
- Mironov, A., Morozov, A., Zenkevich, Y.: Ding-Iohara-Miki symmetry of network matrix models. Phys. Lett. B762, 196–208 (2016). arXiv:1603.05467 [hep-th]
- Awata, H., Kanno, H., Matsumoto, T., Mironov, A., Morozov, A., Morozov, A., Ohkubo, Y., Zenkevich, Y.: Explicit examples of DIM constraints for network matrix models. JHEP 1607, 103 (2016). arXiv:1604.08366 [hep-th]
- 37. Tan, M.-C.: An M-theoretic derivation of a 5d and 6d AGT correspondence, and relativistic and elliptized integrable systems. JHEP **1312**, 031 (2013). arXiv:1309.4775 [hep-th]
- Koroteev, P., Sciarappa, A.: Quantum hydrodynamics from large-n supersymmetric gauge theories. Lett. Math. Phys. (2017). arXiv:1510.00972 [hep-th]
- Koroteev, P., Sciarappa, A.: On Elliptic Algebras and Large-*n* Supersymmetric Gauge Theories. J. Math. Phys. 57, 112302 (2016). arXiv:1601.08238 [hep-th]

- Tan, M.-C.: Higher AGT correspondences, W-algebras, and higher quantum geometric langlands duality from M-theory (2016). arXiv:1607.08330 [hep-th]
- Hollowood, T.J., Iqbal, A., Vafa, C.: Matrix models, geometric engineering and elliptic genera. JHEP 0803, 069 (2008). arXiv:hep-th/0310272 [hep-th]
- Haghighat, B., Iqbal, A., Kozçaz, C., Lockhart, G., Vafa, C.: M-strings. Commun. Math. Phys. 334, 779–842 (2015). arXiv:1305.6322 [hep-th]
- Benini, F., Eager, R., Hori, K., Tachikawa, Y.: Elliptic genera of 2d N = 2 gauge theories. Commun. Math. Phys. 333, 1241–1286 (2015). arXiv:1308.4896 [hep-th]
- 44. Aganagic, M., Okounkov, A.: Elliptic stable envelope (2016). arXiv:1604.00423 [math.AG]
- Saito, Y.: Elliptic Ding-Iohara algebra and the free field realization of the elliptic Macdonald operator. Pub. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 50, 411–455 (2014). arXiv:1301.4912 [math.QA]
- 46. Gadde, A., Gukov, S.: 2d index and surface operators. JHEP 1403, 080 (2014). arXiv:1305.0266 [hep-th]
- Marshakov, A., Nekrasov, N.: Extended Seiberg–Witten theory and integrable hierarchy. JHEP 0701, 104 (2007). arXiv:hep-th/0612019
- Clavelli, L., Shapiro, J.A.: Pomeron factorization in general dual models. Nucl. Phys. B57, 490–535 (1973)
- Aganagic, M., Haouzi, N.: ADE little string theory on a Riemann surface (and triality) (2015). arXiv:1506.04183 [hep-th]
- Aganagic, M., Haouzi, N., Kozçaz, C., Shakirov, S.: Gauge/Liouville triality (2013). arXiv:1309.1687 [hep-th]
- 51. Aganagic, M., Haouzi, N., Shakirov, S.: An-triality (2014). arXiv:1403.3657 [hep-th]
- Feigin, B., Frenkel, E.: Quantum W-algebras and elliptic algebras. Commun. Math. Phys. 178, 653–678 (1996). arXiv:q-alg/9508009 [q-alg]
- 53. Farghly, R.M., Konno, H., Oshima, K.: Elliptic algebra $U_{q,p}(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})$ and quantum Z-algebras. Algebras Represent. Theory **18**, 103–135 (2015). arXiv:1404.1738 [math.QA]
- Bourgine, J.-E., Mastuo, Y., Zhang, H.: Holomorphic field realization of SH^c and quantum geometry of quiver gauge theories. JHEP 1604, 167 (2016). arXiv:1512.02492 [hep-th]
- 55. Bourgine, J.-E., Fukuda, M., Matsuo, Y., Zhang, H., Zhu, R.-D.: Coherent states in quantum $W_{1+\infty}$ algebra and qq-character for 5d super Yang-Mills. PTEP **2016**, 123B05 (2016). arXiv:1606.08020 [hep-th]
- Green, M.B., Schwarz, J.H., Witten, E.: Superstring Theory. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1987)
- 57. Yamada, Y.: Introduction to Conformal Field Theory. Baifukan, Tokyo (2006). (in Japanese)